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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

DWIGHT E. ROBBINS, ))
Plaintiff, ))

V. ) ) Civil Action No. 11-2207 (EGS)
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, ))
Defendant. ;

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Dwight E. Robbinslleges that he was discriminated against because of his race
and was subjected to retaliatory acts during his employment with the DistriotushGia Public
Schools*DCPS”), in violation ofTitle VIl of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 20Gfie
seq Following a period of discovery, the District of Columlaa the real party in interest,
moves for summary judgment under Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 [Dkt. # 24], plaintiff, through counsel,
opposes thenotion [Dkt. # 32],the Distict has repliedDkt. # 36], and plaintiff, by leave of
court, hadiled a surreply|Dkt. # 38]. Upon consideration of the parties’ submissions and the
entire recorgdthe Court will grant the District’s motioandenterjudgmentaccordingly

|. BACKGROUND

DCPS hired plaintiff in 1982 as an Educational Aidé.the time of his separation in
August 2011, plaintiff was a futime teacher.Compl.  11. During school year 2009-10,
plaintiff was a physical education (PE) teacher at Eastern High School,tbateand of the
school year, plaintiff's position was eliminated or “excessdoef.’s Statement of Material
Facts as to Which There is NBenuine Dspute (Def.’s Facts) §. Under the terms of thken
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operative contract between DCPS and the Washington Teachers’ Wild), excessing
occurred at a particular school when there \@agecline in student enrollment, a reduction in
the local school budget, a closing or consolidation, a restructuring, or a changéoical
school program, [and] when such an eliminafwas] not a ‘reduction in force’ or
‘abolishment.” 1d. 1 2(citing 2007-2012 Gllective BargainingAgreemeh[Dkt. # 32-3).

Plairtiff had three options as an excessed teacher. He could (1) resign and receive a
$25,000 buyout, (2) retire with full benefits if he had 20 years of creditable sevwi&)
attempt to secure a position at another school but, if unsuccessful, agrexatceldeat another
school for one year and thereafter lose his DCPS position if he did not secure anotiogr. posi
Id. § 3. Plaintiff “was told that he was ineligible for early retirement,” Corfidl7, chose the
third option, and was placed at Jefferson Middle School as amMdIPE teacher beginning
August 2010.Def.’s Factsf[6-7; Compl. T 14.

At the relevant time period, Patricia Pride, “a Caucasian female, was assigned to
Jefferson as the new PrincipalCompl. 1 14.Upon learning of plaintiff's assignment to
Jefferson, Pride adjusted the previously created teaching assignnmeshilecto make sure
[plaintiff] would have his own schedule of classes” since the school alreadlidine PE
teacher Howard Meband®ef.’s Ex. B, Decl. of Ms. Patricia Pride (Pride Deflf)7-8, 10.
Plaintiff “was given the same responsibilities as all othe[-ftilne teachers at Jeffersonld.

9. Initially, neither plaintiff nor Meban@n African American manyas assigned a homeroom.
Id. §12. But after Pride noticethattwo first-year teachers assignedmeroomsvere

struggling with their duties, she assigned homerooms to plaintiff and Mebane e tinet
strugglingteachers could focus on their class preparation and instruétiofi.13. Pride also
“determined that it was appropriate to assign [plaintiffl a home room becads# i@ have a
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full class schedule at the time” and this assignmenild bring him closer to having a “full class
schedule.”ld. Pride avershat she “did not consider race” in assigning homerooms, and that all
but three teacherghe two who were struggling and a third teacher who agreed to perform other
additional dutieshad homeroom assignments.. {1 13, 14.

In February 2011, plaintiff complained @orrespondence Pride about an uneven
distribution of homeroom teachers based on academic disciplines. Specifieafigffabok
issue with the fact thdte and Mebane, the two PE teachers, were assigned homerooms while
three other teachers, two of whom taught English, were not assigned home BedrissFact]
18. When Pride explained, but did not change, the homeroom assignments, plaintiff filed a
grievance and had a hearing in March or April of 2011 with DCPS'’s Assistant Superintendent
Eric King and WTU’s Field Representative Rachel Hicks. q 20.

In his deposition taken in June 20p&intiff answeredYes” to the question of whether
he told Pride in averbal' conversation that he “may contact the EEOO#gf.’s Ex. A,Pl.’s
Dep. 85:10-12. In additiomlaintiff testified that “[e]very African American teacher in the
building had a home room” and that “three Caucasian teachers . . . on the second floor [] did not
have a home room.Id., 82:10-11, 15-17. Plaintiffould not recall whether any Caucasian
teacher was assigned a home room but admitted that the school employed mare¢han t
Caucasian teacher#d., 83:1-6. Also during discovery, plaintiff stated in further support of his
discrimination claim only that head “described, in great deal, my race discrimination and
retaliation claims against the Defendant in my Complaint.” Def.’s Ex. D, Résp Ro Interrg.
No. 13.

In March 2011, plaintiff learned about a vacant PE teacher position at Jefferson for the
following school year, 2011-12. Pride offered the position to Mebane “because he had worked
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as a [PE] teacher, but he declined the positidtritle Decl.y 19. Plaintiff gave his resume to
Pride whaostates that she placed the resume in a file with all other resumégaamdthe file . .
to the office secretary and a personnel committee, as they were reviewing resuimes
position and scheduling a first round of interviews, which they would condle:tf 20. Pride
further states that she suggested that the office secretary and personnetesofoonduct
approximately five interviews because we had received a significant numberroésg’sand
that “they begin with veteran teachers who are already certifiddy 21. Otherwise, Pride
states that shglayed no role in the initial selection of qualified applicants and the first-round
interviews, and she “do[es] not know how many first rounern¢ws were conducted.fd.
Plaintiff was not selected for a firsbund interview.Def.’s Fact][{36-37. Plaintiff disputes
among other things about the selection prodbssthe personnel committee had “receive[d] any
resumes in advance of the interviews and had [] input . . . into who was selected tewntervi
the PE position.” Pl.’s Statement of Material Facts in Genuine Dispute in Suppsdpb’n

to Def.’s Md. for Summ. J.  Ziting Decl. of Monica Jones-Martinez [Dkt. # 32).

According to Pride,he office secretary and tiiemmittee selected two finalists, an
African American woman and a Caucasian woman, and forw#éheadhamesad Pride, who
interviewed the two finalists “by phone.Pride Decly 23; Def.s Fact§y38-39. Pride selected
Vicki Cable, who she “determined . . . was the best qualified individual for the positiamsbeca
of [Cable’s] experience as a Master Educator with DCPS and hexxpestence as a [PE]
teacher.” Pride Declf 24.

Plaintiff did not pursue any other teaching positions for school year 2011-12 and was
officially terminatedeffectiveAugust 12, 2011 Def.’s Factd{ 4243. Plaintiff alleges that he

“exhausted all of his administrative remedies” and received the EEOC’s “Bamisd Notice



of Rights, dated September 7, 2011.” Corfifjl.~8. He filed this civil action in December
2011.

In Count |of the Complaint, plaintiff allegesnter alia, that he, an Africalmerican
male,was“treated differently regarding [employment] opportunities . . . than Caucizsraales
applying for similar teaching positions” and that defendant’s allegzal idiscrimination
“caus|ed] Plaintiff loss of employment and severe findri@adship.” Compl. at 6. In Coutt
plaintiff alleges,nter alia, that “[a]s a result of Plaintiffs comments concerning the EEOC, Ms.
Pride ensured that Plaintiff's position would not be included in the next year’s schoe[thiidg
Id. at 7.

[I. LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment should be granted only if the moving party has shown that there are
no genuine issues of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgnaemiadter of
law. SeeFed.R. Civ .P. 56(a)Celotex Corp. v. Qeett, 477 U.S. 317, 325 (1986)yaterhouse
v. Dist. of Columbia298 F.3d 989, 991 (D.Cir. 2002). “A fact is material if it ‘might affect
the outcome of the suit under the governing law,” and a dispute about a materiadésctirne
‘if the evidences such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.””
Steele v. Schafeb35 F.3d 689, 692 (D.Cir. 2008) (quotingAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc
477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)). The moving party bears the initial burden of demonstrating the
absence of genuine issues of material f&ete Celotexd77 U.S. at 323. In determining whether
a genuine issue of material fact exists, the Court must view all facts in the lightawvmabfe to
the non-moving partySee Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Cdifb U.S. 574, 587

(1986);Keyes v. Dist. of Columhbi&72 F.3d 434, 436 (D.Cir. 2004).



The non-moving party's opposition, however, must consist of more than mere
unsupported allegations or denials; it must be supported by affidavits or other@ompet
evidence setting forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issualfdSeeFed.R.
Civ. P. 56(c)(1)Celotex 477 U.S. at 324In addition “although sumary judgment must be
approached with special caution in discrimination cases, a plaintiff is notecklod [his]
obligation to support [his] allegations by affidavits or other competent evidencenghibat
there is a genuine issue for trialkdair v. Solis 742 F. Supp. 2d 40, 50 (D.D.C. 201#ff,d,
473 Fed. Appx. 1 (D.CCir. 2012) (internal quotation marks and citations omittédihe mere
existence of a scintilla of evidence in support of the [non-moggmakition will be insufficient;
theremust be evidence on which the jury could reasonably find for the [nonmovangderson
477 U.S. at 252.

[11. DISCUSSION

Plaintiff (1) concedes “to dismissal of Countle race discrimination claim(2)
confirms that theomplaint does not contain a hostile work environment claim(&nd
acknowledges that he cannot recover punitive damages from the District. Pl.’s Meng. Af
in Supp. of Pl.’'s Opp’n to Def.’s Mot. for Summ.all, n.1. Hence, thenly issue is whether a
trial is warranted oplaintiff's claim of retaliationcomprising Count Il of the complaint.

Title VII's anti-retaliation provision fhakes it unlawful for an employer to:
discriminate against any of his employees or applicantsnigloyment . .
because he has opposed any practice made an unlawful employment
practice by this subchapter, or because he has made a charge, testified,
assisted, or participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or
hearing under this subchap.

Howard R.L. Cook & Tommy Shaw Fdt'n for Black Employees of the Library of Congress v.

Billington, 737 F.3d 767, 772 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 2(&J@¢-—"This
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provision protects employees who file discrimination charges (or engagjeeinstatutorily
protected activity) from materially adverse retaliation by their empldyeds (citing Burlington
Northern & Santa Fe Railway Co. v. Whif18 U.S. 53 (2006))To prove his retaliation claim,
plaintiff must showthrough competent edence that he suffered a materially adverse action as a
result of his statutorily protected activitid. In other words, he “must show: (1) that he
opposed a practice made unlawful by Title VII; (2) that the employeraanéterially adverse
action against him; and (3) that the employer took the action ‘because’ the eenpfiposed the
practice.” McGrath v. Clinton 666 F.3d 1377, 1380 (D.Cir. 2012). Unlike the “motivating
factor standard” applicable to Title VII discrimination claims, “Title VII retaliat@aims
require proof that the desire to retaliate was thedrutause of the challenged employment
action” Univ. of Texas &. Med. Ctr. v. Nassarl33 S.Ct. 2517, 2527, 2528 (2013).

Since plaintiff has not pointed to adirect evidence afetaliation his claimis subjectto
analysis under thiamiliar burdenshifting framework articulated iklcDonnell Douglas Corp.
v. Green411 U.S. 792 (1973)See Jones v. Bernankb7 F.3d 670, 677 (D.C. Cir. 2009).
TheCourt of Appeals has instructed that witlea defendant articulates a legitimate, non
retaliatoryreason for the adverse employment actiotihhe burdenshifting framework
disappears, and a court reviewing summary judgment looks to whether a reasopaialelgur
infer. . .retaliation from all the evidenceyhich includes . . the prima facie cadand]the
evidence the plaintiff offers taattack theemployer's proffered explanation for its action’ and
other evidence of retaliation.d. (quotingCarter v.Geo. Wash. Uniy387 F.3d 872, 878 (D.C.
Cir. 2004).

Defendant’s evidence shows that plaintifftlbs teaching position due to excessing and
his inability to secure another position for school year 2011P1&intiff counters this legitimate,
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non-retaliatory reason by disputing Pride’s version of the hiring pro&=ssgenerallfl.’s
Statement oDisputed Facts. But, as discussed niws, dispute is immaterial because plaintiff
has failed completely to adduce evidencehmnfirstelement of his retaliation claim and, thus,
cannot avoidsdummary judgment

Plaintiff must prove at trial that hg@posed a practice made unlawful under Title VII.
“But if the practice the employee opposed is not one that could reasonably and in good faith be
regarded as unlawful under Title VII, this element is not satisfitétGrath, 666 F.3d at 1380.
In hisletterto PridedatedFebruaryl4, 2011 andin follow-up correspondence, plaintiff opposed
the homeroom assignments but not for any reason proscribed by Titl8a842 U.S.C. §
2000e-16(a) (“All personnel actions affecting employees . . .in . . . the Distficilombia . .
.shall be made free from any discrimination based on race, color, religiooy setional
origin.”).

During discovery conducted in 2033aintiff stated thahe had “raised concerns with
Ms. Pride that she made unequal distriminatoryassignments of homerooms for the teachers
in the school.” Def.’s Ex. D, Pl.’s Resp. to Def.’s Interrog. # B8t the actualetterdated
February 14, 2011, does not mentrane or any other protected stafissthe basis gflaintiff's
complaints about the homeroom assignmentain#if writes: “In my 30 years of teaching in
DCPS, normally [PE] Teachers are not assigned homeroom because of thegeteldeo
gymnasiunready for classes.” PI's EfOkt. # 32-3] at 94. He continues: “The scheduling of
homeroom should be done on an equal basis. If Mr. Mebane and | [the two PE teachers] . . . both
have a homeroom assignment, we will ended [sic] up covering both homeroom groups if he is/or
| am absent.”ld. Plaintiff names “three other teachers without homerooms,” again without any
mention of their race or any other protected status, and then questions the faitiness of
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homeroom assignments to him dvidbanesinceMebane, as a haltime employeehadto
shoulder two classes and a homeroom “while three tifuk®] teachers . . . have nondd.
Plaintiff concludes: “I think a second look at the schedule is warranted. | did not cause m
situation to be as it is.1d. In addition the following colloquyis taken fromplaintiff's
deposition:
Q. When you made your complaint to Ms. Pride, did you complain that
it was because of race, you thought, that the distribution was unequal?
A. No. | actually did it because the discipline wasn’t equal.
Q. Because of the disciplines?
A. Yes. Because there were two English teachers on that floor that
didn’t have home rooms.
Pl.’s Dep. 83:7-14.

Plaintiff points toother evidence ithe record thaloes nothing tadvancehis daim.
Herefers toPride’s email dated March 3, 2011 conveyingher beliefthat the homeroom issue
had been resolvadhile alsoacknowleding plaintiff's “other issues with the district office
regarding your years and retirementand his response: “The time it has taken you to reply
speaks for itself. EEOC.” Pl.’s Ex. [Dkt. # 32- And plaintiff refers to his response dated
April 27, 2011, to another of Pride’sneails about homeroom assignments in which he states: “I
feel you have continuingsic] to disrespect me, by continuing delaying, telling half truths. | will
be following the chain of command by filing a Step 3 Grievance on this matter.”"ER..[Bkt.

# 32-3]. But union grievances and general complaints about unfair treatment do not constitute
protected activity undefFitle VII. SeeRamey v. PEPCQ168 F. Supp. 2d 51, 59 (D.D.C. 2006)
(aunion grievancehat does not allege “discrimination or another practice made unlawful under
Title VII” is not statutorily protected activijyWelzel v. Bernstejt36 F. Supp. 2d 110, 122-23

(D.D.C. 2006) (complaints about “unprofessional and abusive behavior” and generaiotsnpl

about unfair treatment absent a stated belief that such behavior violates Tite Wbt
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protected under Tle VII”) (citing Barber v. CSX Distribution Sery$8 F.3d 694, 702 (3d Cir.
1995))(other citations omitted)Plaintiff's mere mention of “EEOC” is not a fact or evidence
upon which a jury can deliberat&ellingly, whenplaintiff waspressedaiuring discoveryo state
facts supporting hiSitle VII claims, he responeldthat he had “described, in great deal, my race
discrimination and retaliation claims against the Defendant in my Complaint.” Be&f.i3,
Pl.’s Resp. to Interrog. No. 13But plaintiff cannot rely on this vague reference to the complaint
containing conclusory allegations to aveigmmary judgment

When,asfound tere, a plaintiff fails to adduce any evidence on an element of his claim
after adequate time for discovery, “thean be no genuine issue as to any material fagitice a
complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving padg
necessarily resters all other facts immaterialCelotex 477 U.S. at 3223. Hence, the Court
finds thatdefendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law onrhecontestedlaim of
retaliation.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court concludes that no material fact is in gespute di

and that defendant is entitled to judgment as a mafttawv. A separate order accompanies this

Memorandum Opinion.

SIGNED: EMMET GSULLIVAN
UNITED STATES DISTRICTIUDGE
DATE: SeptembelO, 2014
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